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The Bedford House hotel experienced three building phases, from 1857 to 1910. 
Each phase is clearly discernable, with the first (1857) and third (1910) 
forming rear wings to the larger, 1877 phase, which fronts on the town's main 
street. The overall design is simple, made of locally manufactured brick: flat 
roofed, rectangular, with segmental arched windows. The two rear sections have 
no exterior ornamentation (since they are not visible from the street). The 
1857 section has been stuccoed, though this is now wearing away. The earliest 
section has two stories, the others, three.

Exterior design interest is concentrated in the front elevation of the 1877 section, 
It is symmetrical, seven bays wide with a center door and five-bay wooden porch. 
The 2/2-light windows have flat, concrete hoods. The door bears an attractive 
fanlight and single, four-light sidelight. Two windows to the left of the door 
have been joined by a double plate-glass window, but the separate hoods from the 
original openings remain. A pressed-tin cornice across the front is supported 
by single brackets, and features a central, protruding panel and low, ornamental 
balustrade. Six round, shaped wood columns support the flat roof of the porch.

To a remarkable extent, the interior of the hotel has preserved a small-town, 
early 20th-century character. Noteworthy is the marble mosaic on the lobby floor. 
The lobby and many of the rooms have pressed-tin ceilings, most of the original 
woodwork (oak or walnut) is intact, including a fine staircase with carved posts 
and well-shaped balusters. Furnishings, too, are typical of the period -- brass 
bedsteads, heavy, elaborage cupboards, commodes, and dressers. Walls are lathe 
and plaster, covered with wallpaper. The most obvious concession to modern life 
are the bathrooms. The 1857 section has long been converted to apartments, where 
the owners live.
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Although its three sections were built over a period of 65 years (1857-1910), 
the Hotel Garland today represents, in an unusually fine state of preservation, 
the typical midwestern small-town hotel, its interior appointments dating pri- 

* marily from the early years of the 20th century. Hotels such as these were from 
their beginnings a focal point in their towns, not only for travellers seeking 
rest and food, but for the townspeople themselves, who found in the endless stream 
of strangers a source of entertainment and variety.

Hotel Garland began as the Bedford House in 1857, under the ownership of Charles 
Steele, a local businessman, farmer, and banker, who was later responsible for 
the erection of an opera house in Bedford in 1879. It was built four years after 
the town was laid out, the town's status as county seat assuring a good flow 
of business. In 1877, a fire which destroyed five commercial establishments did 
some damage to the hotel. That year, along with repairs to the original structure, 
the then owner, Willard Barrows, erected a three-story addition, fronting close 
on Main Street, which bacame the hotel's main section. Shortly thereafter, the 
Bedford was purchased by John Green, onetime cavalry captain and himself the son 
of an hotelier, who acquired the Bedford after four previous hotel ventures in Kan­ 
sas and Missouri. In 1910, the third section was added by John J. Clark. Clark, 
politically and commercially active in the town, renamed the place the Hotel 
Garland after a daughter. The Whitaker family acquired the hotel in 1928 and operate 
it today. Under their management, the hotel has retained to an impressive degree, 
the character and flavor of its earlier years. Local sentiment, particularly 
expressed during a series of public tours last year, is similarly concerned with 
the preservation of this local landmark.
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